Impact and cost-effectiveness of care farms on health and well-being of offenders on probation: a pilot study

Helen Elsey, 1* Rachel Bragg, 2 Marjolein Elings, 3 Cathy Brennan, 1 Tracey Farragher, 1 Sandy Tubeuf, 4 Rochelle Gold, 5 Darren Shickle, 1 Nyantara Wickramasekera, 4 Zoe Richardson, 6 Janet Cade 7 and Jenni Murray 1

Declared competing interests of authors: none

Disclaimer: This report contains transcripts of interviews conducted in the course of the research, or similar, and may contain language which offends some readers.

Published February 2018 DOI: 10.3310/phr06030

Plain English summary

Care farms on health and well-being of offenders on probation

Public Health Research 2018; Vol. 6: No. 3

DOI: 10.3310/phr06030

NIHR Journals Library www.journalslibrary.nihr.ac.uk

¹Academic Unit of Public Health, University of Leeds, Leeds, UK

²Essex Sustainability Institute, University of Essex, Colchester, UK

³Plant Research International, Wageningen University, Wageningen, the Netherlands

⁴Academic Unit of Health Economics, University of Leeds, Leeds, UK

⁵NHS e-Referral Service, Health Digital Services, NHS Digital, Leeds, UK

⁶York Trials Unit, Department of Health Sciences, University of York, York, UK

⁷Nutritional Epidemiology Group, University of Leeds, Leeds, UK

^{*}Corresponding author h.elsey@leeds.ac.uk

Plain English summary

are farms (CFs) use all or part of a farm to provide health, social or educational care for different people. Our study assessed whether or not it is possible (feasible) to collect the data needed to see if CFs can benefit people serving community orders. We also synthesised existing research on the benefits of CFs. We found 1659 research articles; 27 could be included. The quantitative evidence was limited but showed that CFs may improve mental well-being. We developed four diagrams showing how CFs may lead to improvements.

Our pilot study was conducted in three probation regions, each with a CF and another probation site. We recruited 134 service users, fewer than our planned recruitment of 300. Pilot studies are not normally designed to assess impact, so 134 people were enough to assess feasibility. Recruitment was challenging as a result of changes in probation and the closure of one CF. Participants at CFs were more likely to be male, smokers and substance users, had a higher risk of reoffending and had more missing answers to questionnaire questions. Despite these differences, the use of statistical analysis can facilitate comparison.

We were able to follow up 52% of respondents and link probation and reconviction data to them for 90%. We collected health and social care use cost data. Qualitatively, we found that some probation services emphasised CFs as rehabilitation and others emphasised them as punishment.

Changes in probation presented challenges, although recruitment may be feasible with stability in probation services. Using existing reconvictions data is more feasible than following up participants to fill in questionnaires. CFs have potential to improve well-being; however, larger studies are needed to assess impact.

Public Health Research

ISSN 2050-4381 (Print)

ISSN 2050-439X (Online)

This journal is a member of and subscribes to the principles of the Committee on Publication Ethics (COPE) (www.publicationethics.org/).

Editorial contact: journals.library@nihr.ac.uk

The full PHR archive is freely available to view online at www.journalslibrary.nihr.ac.uk/phr. Print-on-demand copies can be purchased from the report pages of the NIHR Journals Library website: www.journalslibrary.nihr.ac.uk

Criteria for inclusion in the Public Health Research journal

Reports are published in *Public Health Research* (PHR) if (1) they have resulted from work for the PHR programme, and (2) they are of a sufficiently high scientific quality as assessed by the reviewers and editors.

Reviews in *Public Health Research* are termed 'systematic' when the account of the search, appraisal and synthesis methods (to minimise biases and random errors) would, in theory, permit the replication of the review by others.

PHR programme

The Public Health Research (PHR) programme, part of the National Institute for Health Research (NIHR), evaluates public health interventions, providing new knowledge on the benefits, costs, acceptability and wider impacts of non-NHS interventions intended to improve the health of the public and reduce inequalities in health. The scope of the programme is multi-disciplinary and broad, covering a range of interventions that improve public health. The Public Health Research programme also complements the NIHR Health Technology Assessment programme which has a growing portfolio evaluating NHS public health interventions.

For more information about the PHR programme please visit the website: http://www.nets.nihr.ac.uk/programmes/phr

This report

The research reported in this issue of the journal was funded by the PHR programme as project number 11/3050/08. The contractual start date was in July 2013. The final report began editorial review in August 2016 and was accepted for publication in March 2017. The authors have been wholly responsible for all data collection, analysis and interpretation, and for writing up their work. The PHR editors and production house have tried to ensure the accuracy of the authors' report and would like to thank the reviewers for their constructive comments on the final report document. However, they do not accept liability for damages or losses arising from material published in this report.

This report presents independent research funded by the National Institute for Health Research (NIHR). The views and opinions expressed by authors in this publication are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect those of the NHS, the NIHR, NETSCC, the PHR programme or the Department of Health and Social Care. If there are verbatim quotations included in this publication the views and opinions expressed by the interviewees are those of the interviewees and do not necessarily reflect those of the authors, those of the NHS, the NIHR, NETSCC, the PHR programme or the Department of Health and Social Care.

© Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2018. This work was produced by Elsey et al. under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health and Social Care. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

Published by the NIHR Journals Library (www.journalslibrary.nihr.ac.uk), produced by Prepress Projects Ltd, Perth, Scotland (www.prepress-projects.co.uk).

Public Health Research Editor-in-Chief

Professor Martin White Director of Research and Programme Leader, UKCRC Centre for Diet and Activity Research (CEDAR), MRC Epidemiology Unit, Institute of Metabolic Science, School of Clinical Medicine, University of Cambridge; Visiting Professor, Newcastle University; and Director, NIHR Public Health Research Programme

NIHR Journals Library Editor-in-Chief

Professor Tom Walley Director, NIHR Evaluation, Trials and Studies and Director of the EME Programme, UK

NIHR Journals Library Editors

Professor Ken Stein Chair of HTA and EME Editorial Board and Professor of Public Health, University of Exeter Medical School, UK

Professor Andrée Le May Chair of NIHR Journals Library Editorial Group (HS&DR, PGfAR, PHR journals)

Dr Martin Ashton-Key Consultant in Public Health Medicine/Consultant Advisor, NETSCC, UK

Professor Matthias Beck Professor of Management, Cork University Business School, Department of Management and Marketing, University College Cork, Ireland

Dr Tessa Crilly Director, Crystal Blue Consulting Ltd, UK

Dr Eugenia Cronin Senior Scientific Advisor, Wessex Institute, UK

Dr Peter Davidson Director of the NIHR Dissemination Centre, University of Southampton, UK

Ms Tara Lamont Scientific Advisor, NETSCC, UK

Dr Catriona McDaid Senior Research Fellow, York Trials Unit, Department of Health Sciences, University of York, UK

Professor William McGuire Professor of Child Health, Hull York Medical School, University of York, UK

Professor Geoffrey Meads Professor of Wellbeing Research, University of Winchester, UK

Professor John Norrie Chair in Medical Statistics, University of Edinburgh, UK

Professor John Powell Consultant Clinical Adviser, National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE), UK

Professor James Raftery Professor of Health Technology Assessment, Wessex Institute, Faculty of Medicine, University of Southampton, UK

Dr Rob Riemsma Reviews Manager, Kleijnen Systematic Reviews Ltd, UK

Professor Helen Roberts Professor of Child Health Research, UCL Institute of Child Health, UK

Professor Jonathan Ross Professor of Sexual Health and HIV, University Hospital Birmingham, UK

Professor Helen Snooks Professor of Health Services Research, Institute of Life Science, College of Medicine, Swansea University, UK

Professor Jim Thornton Professor of Obstetrics and Gynaecology, Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences, University of Nottingham, UK

Professor Martin Underwood Director, Warwick Clinical Trials Unit, Warwick Medical School, University of Warwick, UK

Please visit the website for a list of members of the NIHR Journals Library Board: www.journalslibrary.nihr.ac.uk/about/editors

Editorial contact: journals.library@nihr.ac.uk